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S.J.C. Order of Indefinite Suspension entered by Justice Duffly on July 11, 2011, with 
an effective date of August 10, 2011.1 

 
SUMMARY2 

In a stipulation filed with the Board of Bar Overseers, the respondent admitted that 

bar counsel could prove the following by a preponderance of the evidence.  From 1985 to 

2003, the respondent engaged in illegal gambling by placing bets with a bookmaker.  In 

return, the respondent provided legal services to the bookmaker and his family.  

In early January 2001, the respondent borrowed $30,000 from the bookmaker.  As 

part of his repayment of this debt, between January 2001 and January 2002, the respondent 

permitted the bookmaker to operate an illegal gambling operation from the basement of the 

respondent’s home.  For approximately three weeks during this period, the respondent 

assisted in the gambling operation by answering the telephone installed in his basement. 

The respondent’s conduct in engaging in illegal activity with his client and in 

assisting his client in illegal activity violated Mass. R. Prof. C. 1.2 (d) and 8.4 (b) and (h). 

In a second matter, the respondent was friends with an owner of an out-of-state 

electric company who suggested that the respondent could earn money to repay the 

bookmaker by helping the friend receive cash over $10,000 without triggering a report from 

the friend’s bank pursuant to 31 C.F.R. §103.22(b)(1).  The respondent and the friend 

devised a scheme whereby the friend wrote checks to an entity created by the respondent 

called “Suffolk Lighting,” which the respondent then deposited to a “Suffolk Lighting” bank 

account.  The friend agreed to pay the respondent 10% of the cash withdrawn.   

On some occasions, the respondent intentionally made a series of cash withdrawals 

under $10,000 to avoid triggering a bank report and turned the cash to the friend.  This 

“structuring” violated 26 U.S.C. §6050I.  On other occasions, he wrote checks to an account 

established by his friend.  Between 2001 and 2004, the respondent delivered $700,000 to 

$800,000 in cash to the friend.  By assisting his friend in avoiding reporting requirements 

and by structuring withdrawals of cash to avoid reporting requirements, the respondent 

violated Mass. R. Prof. C. 8.4(b), (c) and (h).  

                                                
1 The complete Order of the Court is available by contacting the Clerk of the Supreme Judicial Court for Suffolk 
County. 
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This column takes a second look at significant developments in ethics and bar discipline in

Massachusetts over the last twelve months.

Disciplinary Decisions

The full bench of the Supreme Judicial Court issued seven disciplinary decisions in 2008.

Approximately 170 additional decisions or orders were entered by either the single justices

or the Board of Bar Overseers. Several decisions by the Court and the Board were of

significant interest to the bar, either factually or legally.

Curry and Crossen

Of the full-bench decisions, the two that perhaps generated the most interest were the

companion cases of Matter of Kevin P. Curry, 450 Mass. 503 (2008) and Matter of Gary C.

Crossen, 450 Mass. 533 (2008). Curry held that disbarment was the appropriate sanction for

an attorney who, without any factual basis, persuaded dissatisfied litigants that a trial court

judge had “fixed” their case and developed and participated in an elaborate subterfuge to

obtain statements by the judge's law clerk intended to be used to discredit that judge in the

ongoing high-stakes civil case. In Crossen, the Court held that disbarment was also warranted

for another attorney’s participation in the same scheme by actions including taping of a sham

interview of the judge’s law clerk; attempting to threaten the law clerk into making

statements to discredit the judge; and falsely denying involvement in, or awareness of,

surveillance of the law clerk that the attorney had participated in arranging.

These cases are particularly noteworthy for their rejection of the attorneys’ arguments that

the deception of the law clerk was a permissible tactic akin to those used by government

investigators or discrimination testers. The SJC in both cases also reaffirmed that expert

testimony is not required in bar disciplinary proceedings to establish a rule violation or a

standard of care.



On June 13, 2011, the stipulation as to facts and rule violations came before the Board 

of Bar Overseers with a recommendation for an indefinite suspension.  The board voted to 

accept the stipulation and joint recommendation.    

An Information was filed with the Supreme Judicial Court for Suffolk County on June 

27, 2011.  On July 11, 2011, the  Supreme Judicial Court for Suffolk County  (Duffly, J.) 

entered an order suspending the respondent from the practice of law for an indefinite period 

effective 30 days after the date of the order. 

                                                                                                                                                       
2 Compiled by the Board of Bar Overseers based on the record filed with the Supreme Judicial Court.  


